Mental Health Practice Standards FOR NURSES IN AUSTRALIAN GENERAL PRACTICE





© 2018 Australian College of Mental Health Nurses Inc.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be produced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means whether electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without prior permission of the copyright owner.

ISBN: ISBN-13: 978-0-6483060-0-9 (Print)

ISBN: ISBN-13: 978-0-6483060-2-3 (Online)

Copies at: www.acmhn.org

Recommended citation:

Australian College of Mental Health Nurses (2018). Mental Health Practice Standards for Nurses in Australian General Practice 2018. ACMHN. Canberra.

Authors: E Halcomb, S McInnes, L Moxham, C Patterson.

Expert Reference Group: E Muir-Cochrane (Chair), W Cross (previous Chair), B Murray (Sponsor), K Cook (Sponsor), K Ryan, A Davis, C Stapleton, D Hansen-Vella, R Rolleston, P Maude, J Grace, J Milford, M Rawlin, V Loftus, A-M Thompson.

Project Team: P Marks, I Dummett, K Ryan.

Steering Committee: B Happell (Chair), M Hazelton, G Neilson, T Ryan, M Fitzgerald, R Zeppa-Cohen, C Pavlou.

Design: Neil Deacon Design

Acknowledgements: The ACMHN acknowledges the funding received from the Australian Government Department of Health under the Mental Health Nurse Workforce Program, and the University of Wollongong research team for conducting the research project and developing this document. Thanks too to the members of the Expert Reference Group who generously contributed to the project through participation in the survey process and by providing considered feedback and advice, without whom, this project would not have been possible. The ACMHN would also like to acknowledge those mental health nurses and general practice nurses who participated in the development process, in the survey conducted by the University of Wollongong and the project Steering Committee whose volunteer contribution to the College is much appreciated.



Contents

Foreword
Overview
Standards for Nurses in Australia
Scope of Practice
Australian General Practice
Development of these Standards
Format of the Standards
Professional Practice
Nursing Practice
General Practice Environment
Collaborative Practice
References
Expert Reference Group Membership
Notes

Abbreviations

NMBA Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia ANMF Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation

PNIP Practice Nurse Incentive Program

Foreword

It is with pleasure that I provide the opening remarks to this very important document.

Nurses are vital to the delivery of safe, efficient and high quality health care, and they are frontline health care providers for Australians seeking treatment for physical and mental health conditions, their carers, friends and community.

The close association between physical and mental illness, and the significant rates of mental ill-health experienced by the general population, particularly those with chronic disease, mean that it is more important than ever for nurses and midwives to develop their knowledge and skills around mental health and mental illness, in order to be able to confidently provide appropriate care. This does not mean that all nurses and midwives need to become mental health specialists – mental health nursing is a specialist practice that requires specific qualifications and expertise. But it does mean that all nurses and midwives need to possess knowledge and skills in mental health assessment, care and treatment, appropriate to the clinical setting in which they work and in alignment with their scope of practice.

Practice standards define and describe the practice of nurses, and in this instance, they aim to guide practice and support the delivery of stepped mental health care by nurses working in general practice and other primary health care settings. These Practice Standards have built on the Australian and Nursing Midwifery (ANMF) National Practice Standards for Nurses working in Australian general practice. They provide an important framework against which nurses can self-assess their professional development needs and adjust their clinical practice to ensure that every person seen in the primary care setting has their mental health needs considered and addressed as appropriate.

We are indebted to the Australian Government Department of Health which provided funding to develop the Mental Health Practice Standards for Nurses in Australian General Practice 2018, and to the University of Wollongong team, led by Professor Elizabeth Halcomb, whose research has culminated in the production of this important manuscript.

I commend to you the Mental Health Practice Standards for Nurses in Australian General Practice 2018.

Professor Eimear Muir-Cochrane

President ACMHN

Overview

In 1996 the Federal Government recognised the importance of the emotional wellbeing of Australians and declared mental health to be an Australian National Health Priority Area⁽¹⁾. The 2014-15 National Health Survey results indicate that four million people, 17.5% of all Australians, experienced a mental illness during that year(2, 3). With the total Australian population rising from 20 million in 2007(4) to 24 million in 2016(3) it can be anticipated that the number of people with a lived experience of mental illness has also risen dramatically.

As the number of people experiencing mental illness increases, so too do the costs associated with the provision of mental health related services. The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare⁽⁵⁾ estimated \$8 billion Australian dollars was spent on mental health related services in Australia across the 2013-14 financial year⁽⁵⁾. Admissions to public hospitals comprised the largest portion of the funding at \$2.1 billion, or 26.3% of the overall cost⁽⁵⁾. Additionally, community mental health services required expenditure of \$1.9 billion(5). There are also many hidden financial expenses associated with living with a mental illness such as loss of potential income / productivity, medication, housing, and carer fatigue that are not costed in these estimates^(6, 7). Given the increasing costs and burden of mental illness within our community, the importance of ensuring the availability of robust primary care services for people with mental illness and mental health issues, is paramount.

Internationally, healthcare delivery is changing to meet shifting demands for services. The ageing population and rise in prevalence of chronic and complex conditions necessitates the development of strong primary care systems to provide a combination of preventative health care and ongoing chronic disease management⁽⁸⁻¹¹⁾. Evidence suggests that these systems are best operated by teams of multidisciplinary health professionals working together to provide integrated health care(12). To this end, there has been significant growth in the

...there has been significant growth in the nursing workforce in primary care both in Australia and internationally

nursing workforce in primary care both in Australia and internationally in recent decades⁽¹³⁾

The growth of the nursing workforce in general practice is occurring at the same time as the growth in mental health related general practitioner encounters. For the year 2014-2015, the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare⁽¹⁴⁾ reported an estimated 17.6 million mental health related general practitioner encounters. This equates to 12.7% of all general practitioner related encounters for the year 2014-2015⁽¹⁴⁾. The estimated rate of encounters per 1,000 population for mental health increased annually by an average of 4.4% from 2010-2011 to 2014-2015⁽¹⁴⁾. Depression and anxiety accounted for a total of 6.7 per 100 general practitioner encounters, while depression was the most commonly presented mental health issue, accounting for 32.8% of mental health related GP encounters. According to the 2007 National Survey on Mental Health and Wellbeing⁽¹⁵⁾, of the 34.9% of Australians with a mental health issue, 70.8% consulted a general practitioner in the year prior to the survey. Comparatively, 37.7% consulted a psychologist, and 22.7% consulted a psychiatrist⁽¹⁵⁾.

Nurses are vital to the delivery of safe, efficient and high quality health care in general practice⁽¹⁶⁾. The growth of the general practice nursing workforce has facilitated the formation of teams of multidisciplinary health professionals working together in this setting to provide integrated health care⁽¹²⁾. Nurses working in general practice provide a range of nursing care including, but not limited to, chronic disease management, acute injury care, maternal and child health, occupational health, travel health, as well as health assessment and care planning across the lifespan^(17, 18). Within this range of care, nurses address physical, psychological and social issues as necessary for each individual consumer. The prolonged engagement of nurses working in general practice with consumers and their families and carers over time, positions them well to be involved in difficult conversations and ongoing care in areas such as behaviour change, advanced care planning and mental health and well-being⁽¹⁹⁾. Most nurses working in general practice do not have specialist qualifications in mental health nursing⁽¹³⁾. Whilst nurses with specialist mental health qualifications provide advanced assessment and intervention for those with mental illness, the NMBA requires all registered and enrolled nurses to have knowledge and skills around caring for individuals with mental illness^(20, 21). Indeed nurses working in general practice are expected to provide a growing range of frontline services for people with mental health issues and mental illness across the spectrum of severity, in terms of both their physical and mental health care. This document, Mental Health Practice Standards for Nurses in Australian General Practice 2018, aims to articulate the activities that nurses working in general practice can undertake in relation to mental health as a way of making this work more visible.

Standards for Nurses in Australia

In Australia, the standards for practice identified by the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia (NMBA) for registered⁽²¹⁾ and enrolled⁽²⁰⁾ nurses outline the standards of practice expected from nurses. Additionally, the Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation (ANMF) have developed National Practice Standards for Nurses working in Australian general practice(16).

These ANMF standards compliment the NMBA standards and describe aspects of professional practice specific to registered and enrolled nurses working in the general practice setting. The ANMF standards are necessarily broad to encompass the scope of practice of nurses working in general practice as a result of the diverse environments in which they work and the variable skills and knowledge of these nurses. This document, Mental Health Practice Standards for Nurses in Australian General Practice 2018, builds upon both the NMBA and ANMF standards to provide guidance as to the scope of practice of nurses working in general practice when providing mental health care.

This document is focused on the enrolled and registered nurse workforce in Australian general practice. It does not incorporate nurses working within community mental health services, specialist mental health nurses or mental health nurse practitioners. It also does not incorporate privately practising mental health nurses working in collaboration with general practitioners under the Primary Health Network flexible funding pool. Consideration of how these individuals' best contribute to models of mental health care within general practice requires further investigation beyond the scope of this project.

Scope of Practice

The NMBA(22) defines the scope of practice of a profession as "the full spectrum of roles, functions, responsibilities, activities and decision-making capacity that individuals within that profession are educated, competent and authorised to perform" (p. 1). While the scope of practice of nursing is exclusive to the nursing profession, specific aspects of clinical care may overlap with other professions as part of their scope of practice.

The scope of an individual nurses' practice is more specifically defined as "that which the individual is educated, authorised and competent to perform" (p. 2). Therefore, the individual nurses' scope of practice will be narrower than the scope of the profession. An individual nurses' scope of practice is constrained by local policies which provide authorisation to perform particular tasks, the specific education they have received and the knowledge, skills and competence developed by that individual.

Deciding what falls within the scope of practice of an individual nurse working in general practice has long been recognised as a complex issue⁽²³⁾. Often nurses working in primary care were not prepared specifically for the general practice environment by their pre-registration education as many pre-registration courses focus on acute care⁽²⁴⁻²⁶⁾. Additionally, access to professional development opportunities specific to general practice has been recognised as a challenge due to limited access to leave and funding to support continuing education⁽²³⁾. Finally, complexity is added as a result of the small business environment of general practice, where the general practitioner is often the employer of the nurse and, as such, may guide their workload and educational opportunities(27).

To assist registered and enrolled nurses in decision making around their scope of practice, the NMBA⁽²²⁾ developed the decision making framework. This framework assists nurses' to make decisions about their scope of practice within the context of professional, regulatory and legislative frameworks. Careful consideration of whether a specific aspect of care is within an individual nurses' scope of practice is a sound risk management strategy to protect the public, employers and the nurse from harm. Whilst these Standards articulate the mental health aspects of care provided by the nurse working in Australian general practice, all practice should be considered in terms of whether it is within the individual nurses' scope of practice. Additionally, the scope of practice will be different for registered⁽²¹⁾ and enrolled⁽²⁰⁾ nurses as a result of their different education and skills. Areas identified in this document where the individual nurse is not "educated, authorised and competent to perform" (22) (p. 2), but are within the scope of practice for their registration status, highlight opportunities for professional development to work to the full potential nursing scope of practice.

Australian General Practice

Nursing in general practice is recognised as one of the fastest growing health workforces in Australia⁽²⁸⁾. Growth has largely been driven by workforce demands brought about by an ageing population with increasing healthcare needs, and a growing prevalence of chronic conditions managed within the community(29), including mental health issues.

A trend towards large, privately owned general practices providing a broad range of clinical services has provided further employment opportunities and stimulated interest in primary care nursing among new graduate nurses and nurses seeking career opportunities outside acute care^(30, 31). In many countries, including Australia, New Zealand, Canada and the United Kingdom, nurses now comprise the largest nonmedical workforce working in primary care⁽³²⁾.

In 2003, it was estimated that there were around 2,349 nurses working in Australian general practice and that 40% of practices employed a nurse⁽³³⁾. By 2016, the number of nurses working in Australian general practice had risen to 13,240 nurses and 84.7% of GPs reported working in a practice which employed a nurse^(34, 35). Despite the significant growth of the nursing workforce in general practice, the private nature of general practices and the lack of specific workforce data for nurses working in general practice has created challenges when evaluating workforce size and composition⁽³⁶⁾.

Income in general practice is largely generated via a fee for service arrangement paid for by a publicly funded insurance scheme (Medicare) and consumer co-payments. Until recently, funding of nurses working in Australian general practice was dominated by task specific item numbers, examples of which include wound care, immunisations and cervical screening⁽³⁷⁾. Consistently delivering care around particular tasks ensured that nurses working in general practice developed clinical expertise in areas that could generate income to the practice⁽³⁸⁾. At the same time, this narrow funding arrangement limited the nurses' practice to these tasks and constrained them from working to their full scope of practice(39, 40).

In 2012, the landscape of Australian general practice changed significantly with the replacement of Medicare item numbers for nursing services provided in general practice with the Practice Nurse Incentive Program (PNIP). The PNIP provides block funding for nursing services based on practice size rather than remuneration for specific clinical tasks under the previous item numbers. This change has facilitated practices to re-evaluate the role of the nurse in general practice to target nursing care that best meets consumer and practice needs(41). Despite this increased flexibility, the PNIP funding does not completely cover the costs of nursing services and many practices still emphasise the need for the nurses to be undertaking activities that generate income for the general practice⁽⁴²⁾.

There is significant variation in models of care employed within general practices. These differences are driven by a complex range of factors including the size and clinical focus of the practice, the skill mix of health professionals, local needs of the practice population, the business model and available funding incentives and the individual preferences of practice owners⁽¹⁶⁾. Given this variation in models of care it is apparent that the role of the nurse will also show variation across practices. However, regardless of the variation in nursing care delivered across Australian general practice, this document, Mental Health Practice Standards for Nurses in Australian General Practice 2018, provides a broad framework which articulates how nurses are contributing to mental health care within the general practice setting.

Development of these Standards

This document was developed through a combination of a review of the existing literature and an iterative process of consultation with key stakeholders including representatives from key professional groups (Australian College of Nursing, Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation, Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association, Australian Practice Managers Association, Council of Deans of Nursing and Midwifery, Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists), mental health nurses, general practice nurses, consumers and carers.

Consultation took place between July 2017 and February 2018. Initial interviews and focus groups provided qualitative insight into the scope of practice of nurses in general practice in the provision of mental health care. Participants in this phase included nurses working in general practice, as well as nurses with mental health expertise. Following these interviews and focus groups, a draft document was produced which was sent to the Expert Reference Group and project Steering Committee for comment. This culminated in a revised version of the document which then formed the basis of a survey. This survey was developed and disseminated to nurses working in general practice via professional organisations and social media to seek feedback and gain agreement regarding the final indicators.

The survey was conducted in February 2018 and received 119 responses. Seventy six percent of respondents were registered nurses, with 12% enrolled nurses, 3% nurse practitioners and 9% a dual registered nurse / midwife. Ninety three percent of respondents were female. Most respondents were from New South Wales (49.0%), with others from South Australia (16.3%), Victoria (15.3%), Queensland (10.2%), Western Australia (5.1%), Australian Capital Territory (3.1%) and Northern Territory (1.0%). Although 27.7% respondents were from capital cities and 34.7% from metropolitan centres, 37.6% were from rural or remote areas. Only 15.8% of respondents had ever worked in a mental health setting.

Survey findings indicated over 90% agreement (range 91.04% – 98.48%) that each of the standards reflected the scope of practice of nurses working in general practice in relation to mental health care. Review of open-ended survey items revealed no new areas identified that were not covered by existing proposed standards.

Format of the Standards

These Mental Health Practice Standards for Nurses in Australian General Practice 2018 use the domains articulated in the ANMF National Professional Practice Standards for nurses in general practice⁽¹⁶⁾ to consistently reflect the breadth of nursing in general practice with a specific focus on mental health care. Those standards which relate to professional aspects of nursing in general practice are classified as "Professional practice". "Nursing care" describes nursing care delivery. The aspects of nursing care that are organisational or environmental in nature are listed in "General practice environment". Finally, the domain "Collaborative practice" highlights the pivotal contribution of the nurse within both the general practice and broader primary health care team

Professional Practice

- 1. Understands and uses relevant legislation, guidelines and standards to inform the delivery of mental health care.
- 2. Engages in ongoing professional development relevant to mental health, including networking and/or mentoring relationships.
- 3. Develops the general practice nursing role in mental health stepped care in collaboration with other health professionals, key stakeholders and consumers.
- 4. Considers own psychological wellbeing and that of others in the general practice team.

Nursing Care

- 5. Recognises signs and symptoms of mental health issues across the lifespan.
- 6. Is proficient in mental health first aid skills, including effective and safe communication techniques for interacting with individuals experiencing mental health issues.
- 7. Demonstrates an understanding of common screening tools used in mental health assessment and applies them in clinical practice.
- 8. Understands the interrelationship between mental health and physical co-morbidities, co-occurring conditions and mental health.
- 9. Demonstrates an understanding of therapeutic principles related to person centred care and mental health, including early intervention, trauma informed care, strengths focused, holding hope, personal recovery and enhancing resilience
- **10.** Provides evidence-based interventions and support for people with mental health issues, including motivational interviewing and brief solution focussed interventions

- **11.** Demonstrates an understanding of medications used to treat mental illness including administration considerations, their impact on physical health and monitoring required.
- **12.** Provides information about and facilitates access to programs and services that support positive mental health in collaboration with the general practitioner.
- **13.** Provides health promotion and preventive care around physical health and social factors that impact mental health.
- **14.** Pursues opportunities to reduce stigma and discrimination around mental illness in the general practice setting.

General Practice Environment

15. Considers options for funding of mental health service delivery, including private health insurance, National Disability Insurance Scheme and relevant funding schemes, based on individual circumstances.

Collaborative Practice

- **16.** Uses effective communication and interpersonal skills to build therapeutic relationships with individuals with mental health issues and their families and/or carers / support person(s).
- 17. Creates and maintains a safe and private environment for individuals with mental health issues and their families and/or carers / support person(s).
- **18.** Understands the scope of practice, services available and access pathways for specialist mental health professionals, including mental health nurses, psychologists and psychiatrists.
- **19.** Develops relationships between the general practice, community services and relevant local specialist mental health services within both the public and private sectors.

Professional Practice

Four key standards emerged under the domain of professional practice. Firstly, nurses working in general practice have a clear understanding of the local legislative framework and relevant guidelines and standards to ensure that they are providing evidence-based, best practice mental health care within the general practice setting.

As with all aspects of practice, ongoing professional development specific to mental health is important to ensure that the nurse working in general practice has up to date knowledge and skills for practice. Nurses working in general practice also proactively develop their role in metal health and engage with other mental health professionals, key local stakeholders and consumers. Finally, the nurse working in general practice is cognisant of their own mental health and wellbeing as well as that of others in the general practice team.

1. Understands and uses relevant legislation, guidelines and standards to inform the delivery of mental health care.

Rationale

In addition to the legislation, guidelines and standards relating to health and health care that every nurse seeks to practice within, mental health care requires additional considerations. For those with mental illness, legislation and guidelines establish processes around issues such as consent, involuntary treatment and decision making when they lack capacity to do so. These issues are often highly relevant in the general practice setting where individuals first present for treatment. Additionally, disease specific guidelines outline the evidence-based best practice care and care pathways for various mental health conditions

2. Engages in ongoing professional development relevant to mental health, including networking and/or mentoring relationships.

Rationale

Ongoing professional development specific to mental health is important for nurses to develop and maintain the skills and knowledge required to support working with individuals with mental health issues and their carers / support people. Working in general practice has been described as professionally isolating for nurses^(23, 43). Engaging in networking and mentoring relationships can assist nurses in accessing support from other nurses to continue their professional development and consolidate their skills and knowledge in mental health care.

3. Develops the general practice nursing role in mental health stepped care in collaboration with other health professionals, key stakeholders and consumers.

Rationale

Nurses working in general practice have an important role in supporting individuals with mental health issues and their carers / support people to navigate the often complex mental health care system. It is important that nurses working in general practice actively promote their role to increase its visibility.

4. Considers own psychological wellbeing and that of others in the general practice team

Rationale

An individual's work is an important contributor to stress and burnout⁽⁴⁴⁾. Individual well-being impacts not only on long-term mortality, quality of life and life expectancy but also on the way in which individual's work, their productivity and the quality of care that they deliver. Reflecting on ones' own psychological well-being and that of others is important to ensure that nurses working in general practice and others in the general practice team are supported to manage their own health and well-being. In turn, this will optimise their capacity to deliver high quality care.

Nursing Practice

Nursing practice describes the particular aspects of nursing care delivery around mental health that is undertaken by nurses in general practice. These aspects of care are appropriate at all stages along the illness trajectory, from the identification and assessment of mental health symptoms and management of acute mental illness presentations, to general practice based intervention, referral to specialist services and ongoing mental health promotion.

These standards recognise that the nurse in general practice encounters people with a range of mental health issues, from those with troubling mental health symptoms that do not reach a diagnostic threshold, to those with acute severe mental illness. Additionally, it recognises that the nurse has an important role in promoting mental health and well-being, as well as reducing stigma around mental illness. While the nurse in general practice has the ability to apply these indicators in their practice, decisions about whether a particular aspect of clinical care is within their individual scope of practice is determined by the individual nurse, informed by the NMBA(22) decision making framework.

5. Recognises signs and symptoms of mental health issues across the lifespan.

Rationale

Individuals may present to general practice with a range of signs and symptoms of mental illness, ranging from minor to severe. Identification of signs and symptoms of a mental health issue can facilitate appropriate screening and early detection. This has the potential to prompt early intervention that can minimise the impact of the illness on the individual and their carer / support person.

6. Is proficient in mental health first aid skills, including effective and safe communication techniques for interacting with individuals experiencing mental health issues.

Rationale

As a frontline health professional, the nurse working in general practice works with individuals experiencing a range of signs and symptoms of mental illness. Consumers can present in varying states of distress, ranging from mild depression to significant psychosis. The nurse working in general practice has the skills and experience to effectively communicate with the individual with a mental health issue and to ensure a safe environment for themselves, the consumer and others.

7. Demonstrates an understanding of common screening tools used in mental health assessment and applies them in clinical practice.

Rationale

Individuals experiencing signs and symptoms of mental health issues often present to general practice. The nurse working in general practice is able to effectively assess these signs and symptoms using evidence-based, best practice methods. The use of common screening tools in mental health as validated measure of symptom severity can inform decisions around initial treatment plans, the need for specialist referral and ongoing intervention.

8. Understands the interrelationship between mental health and physical co-morbidities, co-occurring conditions and mental health.

Rationale

Individuals with mental illness have significantly worse physical health and higher mortality rates than other members of the community⁽⁴⁵⁾. Nurses working in general practice have a good understanding of the interrelationship between mental and physical health. This understanding prompts nurses working in general practice to ensure that those with mental illness are supported to access best practice health screening, behaviour modification and chronic disease management to optimise their physical health outcomes.

9. Demonstrates an understanding of therapeutic principles related to person centred care and mental health, including early intervention, trauma informed care, strengths focused, holding hope, personal recovery and enhancing resilience.

Rationale

To promote continuity of care between health professionals, all nurses working in general practice have an understanding of the therapeutic principles used in contemporary mental health care.

10. Provides evidence-based interventions and support for people with mental health issues, including motivational interviewing and brief solution focussed interventions.

Rationale

Not all individuals with mental health issues seen in a general practice will require referral to specialist mental health services. In collaboration with the general practitioner, appropriately educated and experienced registered nurses working in general practice can provide evidence-based interventions for individuals with mental health issues. Additionally, the nurse working in general practice provides support for individuals with mental health issues and their carers / support persons who are receiving intervention from specialist mental health services.

11. Demonstrates an understanding of medications used to treat mental illness including administration considerations, their impact on physical health and monitoring required.

Rationale

A key component of mental health care is pharmacotherapy. Medication use in mental illness is complicated by issues around adherence to medication regimes and the deleterious side-effects of medications. To best support individuals with mental illness in managing their medications, registered nurses working in general practice have a broad understanding of the types of medications used in mental health, the administration considerations of these medications and the side-effects that are likely to be experienced. Additionally, registered nurses working in general practice seek additional detailed information as required to support the delivery of best practice care in mental health pharmacotherapy.

12. Provides information about and facilitates access to programs and services that support positive mental health in collaboration with the general practitioner.

Rationale

Mental health and wellbeing is a complex issue. Individuals may benefit from a range of community based programs that promote wellness and positive mental health, as well as activities which create opportunities for social interaction and connectedness within the community. Nurses working in the general practice setting, in collaboration with general practitioners, provide information to individuals with a mental health issue and their carers / support persons about relevant local services and programs that promote mental health and how they can be accessed

13. Provides health promotion and preventive care around physical health and social factors that impact mental health.

Rationale

Mental health is impacted by a range of physical health and social factors, including chronic disease, life-limiting conditions, poor housing, and financial issues. Health promotion and preventative care, provided by nurses in general practice, that addresses these factors is likely to have a positive impact on mental health. Nurses in general practice recognise that individuals with poor physical health or social factors may also need mental health assessment and support to ensure timely management of mental health issues

14. Pursues opportunities to reduce stigma and discrimination around mental illness in the general practice setting.

Rationale

Despite significant work, mental illness remains a source of stigma and discrimination within our community. Stigma and discrimination can both negatively impact those with mental health issues and cause a reluctance to seek help or support due to perceived negative consequences. Nurses working in general practice play an important role in reducing stigma and discrimination during their ongoing interactions with the practice population and as advocates for health in the community.

General Practice Environment

The predominately small business environment of Australian general practice, the funding of primary care services and the frequent links between mental health and socio-economic disadvantage require nurses in general practice to understand the various funding schemes and how they can be utilised to support the delivery of best practice mental health services.

15. Considers options for funding of mental health service delivery, including private health insurance, National Disability Insurance Scheme and relevant funding schemes, based on individual circumstances.

Rationale

Specialist mental health care is delivered across various community and in-patient settings, as well as within the public and private health systems. Many individuals with mental health issues also have co-existing social issues which may impact on their capacity to self-fund health care. Nurses working in general practice are cognisant of the various options for funding access to mental health services to facilitate access for those with mental illness within the constraints of the health system.

Collaborative Practice

Nurses working in general practice have long been recognised as 'agents of connectivity'(46). In terms of delivering mental health care, nurses working in general practice build therapeutic relationships with consumers with mental health issues and their families and/or support person(s) in order to maintain a safe environment in which best practice care can be delivered.

Additionally, nurses working in general practice understand the role and scope of practice of specialist mental health professionals and build working relationships with these specialist mental health providers and community support groups across the public and private sectors. These relationships are important to facilitate communication, referral and support for both individuals with mental health issues and health professionals.

16. Uses effective communication and interpersonal skills to build therapeutic relationships with individuals with mental health issues and their families and/or carer / support person(s).

Rationale

Conversations around mental health and mental health care can be complex and sensitive. Developing a therapeutic relationship over time between the nurse working in general practice and individuals with mental health issues and their carers / support persons is important to facilitate difficult conversations when health issues arise.

17. Creates and maintains a safe and private environment for individuals with mental health issues and their families and/or carer / support person(s).

Rationale

Accessing treatment for mental health issues can be difficult for both individuals with mental health issues and their carer / support persons. Nurses working in general practice have the opportunity to build therapeutic relationships over time that facilitate a safe environment which provides support and optimises care delivery. Establishing the general practice as a safe environment can encourage individuals with mental health issues and their carers / support persons to present early to the practice when health issues arise

18. Understands the scope of practice, services available and access pathways for specialist mental health professionals, including mental health nurses, psychologists and psychiatrists.

Rationale

In order to appropriately provide information to consumers and their carers / support persons the nurse working in general practice understands the various specialist mental health services available in their local area and their referral pathways. This includes having an understanding of the role of specialist mental health professionals and the types of services and supports that they provide.

19. Develops relationships between the general practice, community services and relevant local specialist mental health services within both the public and private sectors.

Rationale

Effective mental health care requires collaboration and continuity between health professionals and service providers across the sector. Developing relationships between the practice and community services and specialist services facilitates communication and dialogue about both general mental health issues and issues related to specific individuals with mental health needs

References

- Department of Health. Fifth National Mental Health Plan. 2016. Available from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/mental-fifthnational-mental-health-plan.
- 2. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Mental Health in Australia, in cat. no AUS 178. 2014. AIHW: Canberra.
- 3. Australian Bureau of Statistics, National Health Survey: First Results, 2014-15, in cat. no. 4364.0.55.001. 2016, ABS: Canberra.
- 4. Australian Bureau of Statistics, Population, Australian States and Territories: Dec 2007, in cat. no. 3239.0.55.001. 2008, ABS: Canberra.
- 5. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Health expenditure Australia 2013-14, in cat. no. HWE 63. 2015. AIHW: Canberra.
- 6. Evans-Lacko, S. and M. Knapp, Global patterns of workplace productivity for people with depression: absenteeism and presenteeism costs across eight diverse countries. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 2016. **51**(11): p. 1525-1537.
- 7. Evensen, S., T. Wisløff, J.U. Lystad, et al., Prevalence, Employment Rate, and Cost of Schizophrenia in a High-Income Welfare Society: A Population-Based Study Using Comprehensive Health and Welfare Registers. Schizophrenia Bulletin, 2016. 42(2): p. 476-483.
- 8. Francis, K., J. Anderson, N. Mills, et al., Barriers and enablers to nurses working in advanced roles in general practice – A review of the literature. 2012.
- 9. Witt, R.R. and M.C.P.d. Almeida, *Identification of Nurses' Competencies in Primary* Health Care Through a Delphi Study in Southern Brazil. Public Health Nursing, 2008. **25**(4): p. 336-343.
- 10. McCarthy, G., N. Cornally, J. Moran, et al., Practice nurses and general practitioners: perspectives on the role and future development of practice nursing in Ireland. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2012. 21(15-16): p. 2286-2295.
- 11. Oandasan, I.F., M. Hammond, L.G. Conn, et al., Family practice registered nurses: The time has come. Canadian Family Physician, 2010. **56**(10): p. e375-82.

- 12. Wagner EH, Austin BT, Davis C, et al., Improving chronic illness care: translating evidence into action. Health Aff (Millwood), 2001. 20: p. 64-78.
- 13. Halcomb, E.J., Y. Salamonson, P.M. Davidson, et al., The evolution of nursing in Australian general practice: a comparative analysis of workforce surveys ten years on. BMC Family Practice 2014. 15(52): p. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2296/15/52.
- 14. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Mental health services—in brief 2016, in Cat. no. HSE 180, 2016, AIHW: Canberra, ACT.
- 15. Slade, T., Johnston, A, Teesson, M, Whiteford, H, Burgess, P, Pirkis, J, Saw, S., The mental health of Australians 2. Report on the 2007 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. 2009, Department of Health and Ageing, Australian Government: Canberra, ACT.
- 16. Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation., National practice standards for nurses in general practice. 2014, Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation – Federal Office: Melbourne, Victoria.
- 17. Australian College of Nursing, Nursing in General Practice: A guide for the general practice team. 2015, ACN: Canberra.
- 18. Parkinson, A.M. and R. Parker, Addressing chronic and complex conditions: what evidence is there regarding the role primary healthcare nurses can play? Australian Health Review, 2013. **37**(5): p. 588-593.
- 19. Halcomb, E.J., P. Davidson, J. Daly, et al., Australian nurses in general practice based heart failure management: Implications for innovative collaborative practice. European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing, 2004. 3(2): p. 135-147.
- 20. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia, Standards for Practice: Enrolled Nurses 2016, NMBA: Melbourne.
- 21. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia, Registered nurse standards for practice. 2016, NMBA: Melbourne.
- 22. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia, A national framework for the development of decision-making tools for nursing and midwifery practice. 2013, NMBA: Melbourne.

- 23. Halcomb, E.J., P. Davidson, J. Daly, et al., Nursing in Australian general practice: Directions and perspectives. Australian Health Review, 2005. 29(2): p. 156-66.
- 24. Halcomb, E.J., P.M. Davidson, R. Griffiths, et al., Cardiovascular disease management: Time to advance the practice nurse role? Australian Health Review, 2008. **32**(1): p. 44-55.
- 25. Betony, K. and J. Yarwood, What exposure do student nurses have to primary health care and community nursing during the New Zealand undergraduate Bachelor of Nursing programme? Nurse Education Today, 2013. 33(10): p. 1136-1142.
- 26. Keleher, H., R. Parker, and K. Francis, *Preparing nurses for primary health care* futures: how well do Australian nursing courses perform? Australian Journal of Primary Health, 2010. **16**(3): p. 211-216.
- 27. McInnes, S., K. Peters, A. Bonney, et al., A qualitative study of collaboration in general practice: Understanding the general practice nurse's role. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2017. 26(13-14): p. 1960-1968.
- 28. Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association. About General Practice Nursing. 2014: Available from: http://www.apna.asn.au/scripts/cgiip.exe/WService=APNA/ccms.r?PageId=11137.
- 29. Commonwealth of Australia, Building a 21st century primary health care system. Australia's first National primary health care strategy. 2010, Department of Health and Ageing: Canberra.
- 30. Ashley, C., E. Halcomb, and A. Brown, Transitioning from acute to primary health care nursing: an integrative review of the literature. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2016. **25**(15-16): p. 2114-2125.
- 31. Peters, K., E.J. Halcomb, and S. McInnes, Clinical placements in general practice: Relationships between practice nurses and tertiary institutions. Nurse Education in Practice, 2013. 13(3): p. 186-191.
- 32. Freund, T., C. Everett, P. Griffiths, et al., Skill mix, roles and remuneration in the primary care workforce: Who are the healthcare professionals in the primary care teams across the world? International Journal of Nursing Studies, 2015. **52**(3): p. 727-743.

- 33. Australian Divisions of General Practice Ltd. National practice nurse workforce survey 2003. 2003; Available from: http://generalpracticenursing.com.au/__data/assets/ pdf_file/0006/15378/National-Practice-Nurse-Workforce-Survey-2003.pdf.
- 34. Britt, H., G. Miller, J. Henderson, et al., General practice activity in Australia 2015–16. General practice series no. 40. 2016 Sydney University Press: Sydney.
- 35. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. Nurses and Midwives NHWDS 2016 Fact Sheet 2016; Available from: http://data.hwa.gov.au/webapi/ customer/documents/factsheets/2016/Nurses%20and%20Midwives%202016%20 -%20NHWDS%20factsheet.pdf.
- 36. Halcomb, E., E. Smyth, R. Eames-Brown, et al., General practice nurse workforce survey 2015, University of Wollongong: NSW: Australia.
- 37. Joyce, C.M. and L. Piterman, The work of nurses in Australian general practice: A national survey. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 2011. 48: p. 70-80.
- 38. Halcomb, E., Davidson, P., Patterson, E, Promoting leadership and management in Australian general practice nursing: What will it take? Journal of Nursing Management, 2008. **16**(7): p. 846-852.
- 39. Australian Nursing Federation., Australian Practice Nurses Association., Australian Nurse Practitioner Association., et al. Consensus Statement: Advanced registered nurse and nurse practitioner role in primary health care. 2008; Available from: http:// www.apna.asn.au/lib/pdf/Position%20Statements/Primary Health Care Consensus statement.pdf.
- 40. Joyce, C.M. and L. Piterman, Farewell to the Handmaiden?: Profile of Nurses in Australian General Practice in 2007. Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing, 2009. **27**(1): p. 48.
- 41. Medicare Australia, Practice Nurse Incentive Program (PNIP). 2016, Medicare Australia: Canberra
- 42. McInnes, S., K. Peters, A. Bonney, et al., The influence of funding models on collaboration in Australian general practice. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 2017. **23**(1): p. 31-36.
- 43. Halcomb, E.J. and L. Hickman, Development of a clinician-led research agenda for Australian general practice nurses Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing, 2010. **27**(3): p. 4-11.

- 44. Harvey, S.B., M. Modini, S. Joyce, et al., Can work make you mentally ill? A systematic meta-review of work-related risk factors for common mental health problems. Occup Environ Med, 2017: p. oemed-2016-104015.
- 45. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Mortality of People Using Mental Health Services and Prescription Medications Analysis of 2011 data. 2017; Available from: http://www. abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/0/EB5F81AAC6462C72CA2581B40012A37D?Opendoc ument
- 46. Phillips, C.B., C. Pearce, S. Hall, et al., Enhancing care, improving quality: the six roles of the general practice nurse. The Medical Journal of Australia, 2009. 191(2): p. 92-97.

Expert Reference Group Membership

Prof Eimear Muir-Cochrane President, Australian College of Mental Health Nurses (Chair)

Prof Wendy Cross Immediate past President, Australian College of Mental Health

Nurses (previous Chair)

Mr Ben Murray Director, Innovation and Reform Section, Health Workforce

> Reform Branch, Health Workforce Division, Australian Government Department of Health (Project Sponsor)

Ms Karen Cook Immediate past Director, Innovation and Reform Section, Health

Workforce Reform Branch, Health Workforce Division, Australian

Government Department of Health (Project Sponsor)

Adj Assoc Prof Kim Ryan CEO, Australian College of Mental Health Nurses

Ms Anne Davis Australian Association of Practice Managers

Ms Carolyn Stapleton Australian College of Nursing

Ms Donna Hansen-Vella Australian Nursing & Midwifery Federation

Ms Ros Rolleston Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association

Prof Phillip Maude Council of Deans of Nursing and Midwifery

Ms Jane Grace National Mental Health Consumer & Carer Forum

Ms Janet Milford National Mental Health Consumer & Carer Forum

Prof Morton Rawlin Royal Australian College of General Practitioners

Dr Virginia Loftus Royal Australian & New Zealand College of Psychiatrists

Ms Anna-Marie Thompson North West Melbourne Primary Health Network

Notes





www.acmhn.org

PO Box 154, Deakin West, ACT 2600. Australia ph: 1300 667 079 +61 2 6285 1078